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Financial Highlights

For the 12 months ended March 31
2013 
IFRS

2012 
IFRS

2011 
IFRS

2010 
CGAAP

2009 
CGAAP

2008 
CGAAP

Sales and Income ($000’s)

Sales  1,132,743  971,625  981,777  958,901  1,005,925 1,064,858

Gross Profit  102,815  95,811  88,655  97,437  100,557 111,445

Cash flow from operations  (11,975)  (3,243)  35,963  10,883  41,721  16,034 

Net Earnings  10,434  3,724  4,001  11,980  192  2,230 

Common Share Data

Weighted average number of  
shares outstanding  32,414,278  32,414,278  32,414,278  32,414,278  32,205,680  32,205,680 

Cash flow from operations per 
share (1)  $ (0.37)  $ (0.10)  $ 1.11  $ 0.34  $ 1.30  $ 0.50 

Net earnings per share (1)  0.32  0.11  0.12  0.37  0.01  0.07 

Financial Positions ($000’s)

Working capital  48,249  47,425  38,307  36,652  27,226  28,096 

Total assets  346,446  298,649  279,104  287,992  262,843  298,314 

Long term liabilities 
(excluding Subordinated Notes)  31,182  35,121  31,320  28,344  29,706  29,621 

Subordinated Notes  128,834  128,834  128,834  128,834  128,834  128,834 

Total capital expenditures  9,229  2,107  2,958  1,589  2,620  9,475 

Other Data (2)

Return on sales 0.92% 0.38% 0.41% 1.25% 0.02% 0.21%

Ratio of current assets to current 
liabilities 1.20:1 1.23:1 1.20:1 1.17:1 1.14:1 1.12:1

Inventory turnover - times per year  7.31  7.02  7.25  7.06  6.60  6.46 

Days sales outstanding  42.37  43.55  42.90  42.28  36.45  37.85 

% of operating expense to sales  6.3%  7.4%  6.7%  6.6%  8.3%  7.4% 

Notes

(1) Calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. 

(2) “Other Data” are non-GAAP financial measures that do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by the Company’s GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to 
similar measures presented by other issuers. Management believes these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information to readers concerning the business of Taiga.  
For the purposes of the information provided under this heading:

 (i) “Return on sales” represents net earnings divided by sales;

 (ii) “Inventory turnover” represents cost of sales divided by average inventory between two years;

 (iii) “Days sales outstanding” represents average accounts receivable between two years divided by average sales per day;

 (iv) “% of operating expense to sales” represents the total expenses excluding income tax, subordinated debt interest and other income or expense divided by sales.
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Great people, doing 
whatever it takes



Dear fellow shareholders,

The US housing market took off during fiscal year 2013. US 
housing starts began the fiscal year at an annualized pace of 
654,000 units. By March 2013, starts had reached 1.04 million 
units. That represents a year-over-year increase of 59%. Thanks 
to a rapid pace of condo construction in urban markets, Canada 
also experienced strong housing starts for Calendar 2012, 
averaging 214,000, up 10% over the prior year. Strong demand 
boosted capacity utilization rates at lumber and panels mills 
across North America, leading to a steady appreciation in prices 
through the year. By March 2013, lumber prices had increased 
45% year-over-year. OSB prices increased a dramatic 80% over 
the same time period.

Taiga’s commitment through the US housing market 
depression to maintaining its lumber and panel volumes paid 
off in a big way this past fiscal year. In every fiscal quarter, our 
results were bolstered by large increases in revenues from 
commodities. As an example, lumber revenues increased 24% 
year-over-year in Q1. In Q4 lumber revenues were up 38.6% 
over the previous year’s Q4. 

Lumber and panels are sold at a lower average margin, 
compared with other products such as trex decking and 
insulation. The higher percentage of these products in our 
product mix lead to lower gross margin percentage. Despite 
weaker margin percentage, gross margin dollars still increased 
7% year-over-year. We also managed to maintain operating 
expenses at Fiscal 2012 levels, leading to a 1% drop in our 
operating expense ratio to 6.3% of sales, and an increase in 
EBITDA of 24% to $42.9 million. We cannot take a great deal 
of credit for this drop in our operating expense ratio, given the 
rapid increase in commodity prices. However your company 
remains committed to managing this metric going forward, as 
it remains one of the keys to our long-term success.

The Year in Review

Sales of lumber, panels, 
engineered wood, and treated 
products increased by 21%. 
All four categories increased 
year-over-year, with lumber 
and panels showing the 
largest gains. Gross margins in 
these four product categories 
posted similar gains. Increased 
margins in lumber and panels 
were offset by lower treated 
wood margins. Competition 
in treated wood remains 
heightened. Our allied product 
lines grew by 3%. Trex decking 
continues to grow market share in Canada and is 
now well established as the composite deck of 
choice in most Canadian markets.

After an exhausting six years of slogging 
through the worst housing market on record, our operations in 
California finally experienced significant growth. We used the 
downturn to trim costs and tweak the business model, and we 
are now well positioned to take advantage of the recovery. Our 
Ontario based US export division, Taiga International Sales, also 
benefitted greatly from growth in Eastern US markets. 

Despite lower prices for Alberta crude, leading to lower 
GDP growth of 3.5% in 2012 compared to 5.1% in 2011, 
our Calgary and Edmonton branches performed well. Every 
region in Canada grew during the past fiscal year except in 
the Maritimes, where revenues remained flat. The acquisition 
of a larger distribution facility in Dartmouth, Nova Scotia in 
September 2012 is expected to position Taiga for growth in this 
market as well. 



Our Vision For the Next 40 Years

On May 16, 2013 Taiga celebrated its 40th anniversary. Early 
last year, the company began the process of drafting a new 
mission and vision statement, along with a statement of core 
values. You can read the results in another section of this 
annual report. The statement expresses on paper what has 
been apparent in our actions for 40 years. We have always 
sought to drive out non-value-added costs. We have focused 
our efforts on a product mix that reflects the needs of our 
customer base, including the commodity products that drive 
traffic to our customers’ yards. Our branches are empowered 
to make decisions that are based on the local dynamics of their 
respective markets. Most importantly, we could have the right 
product for the right market and the most efficient distribution 
system, but without attracting and retaining the best people in 
the business, we would most certainly fail. 

We believe your company is well-positioned for the next 40 
years. We may see weakness in Canada’s housing market over 
the next few years. Your company has diversified into multiple 
markets, both in the US and overseas, to reduce dependency 
on the housing cycle of any one country. We have suggested 
for more than two years now that the US market will turn 
around and that the recovery will positively impact lumber 
prices. We are now benefitting from this upturn. We expect to 
see further strength in the US economy in the next few years, 
especially as employment picks up, fuelling even more demand 
for housing. Consequently we are positive of our business in 
the near term.

It is easy in such an environment to lose sight of cost 
management. Taiga has and will always be vigilant in managing 
our costs. We are and will always remain the lowest cost 
operator. We will ensure fixed costs are not allowed to rise 
proportionately to revenue and profits. While we reward 
our staff through P4P, the alignment of interests of all the 
stakeholders, especially the company, shareholders and staff, 
will always be maintained.

We also cannot lose sight of non-lumber products when lumber 
prices are higher. Again, we will be mindful of continuing to 
develop a holistic business model. One which is sustainable 
and profitable in the long-run. One that will ride all cycles, 
diversified and with proper risk mitigation in place. 

We will also remain aware that every product goes through 
a cycle, from introduction and low demand, to high margins 
and then eventually becoming commoditised. We saw this for 
EWP, flooring, mouldings and other products. What this means 
is that we need to consistently bring new products to market.

But it all comes back to our people. We have never been more 
confident that our new generation of leaders have what it takes 
to deliver consistent returns into the future. 

We wish to thank all of our staff, shareholders, customers, 
suppliers and other stakeholders for a successful year and look 
forward to the next 40 years.

Thank you.

  
 Cam White  Kooi Ong Tong 
 President and CEO  Chairman of the Board
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1973 Taiga 
was created 
as a BC based 
building product 
distributor

1983 Taiga 
Regina SK 
established

1984 Taiga 
Saskatoon SK 
established

1999 Taiga 
established a 
lumber trading 
division in 
Eastern Canada 
with offices in 
Concord Ontario 
and Laval 
Quebec

1999 Taiga 
relocates the 
New Westminster 
distribution centre 
to Langley BC

1999 Taiga 
completed the 
construction 
of a wood 
preservation 
plant in 
Edmonton 
Alberta

2002 Taiga 
purchased a 
distribution 
centre in Rocklin 
California 
serving northern 
California and 
Nevada

2005 Taiga 
purchased 
a wood 
preservation 
plant in 
Monetville ON 
and established 
a trucking 
operation in 
Alberta

2007 Taiga 
established a 
distribution centre 
in Sanger CA and 
Paradise NL

1974 Taiga’s 
first distribution 
centre was 
established in 
Calgary, AB

1978 Taiga 
Milton ON 
established

Calgary



Edmonton

1992 Taiga 
Nanaimo BC 
established

1996 Taiga 
opened 
distribution 
centres in 
Boucherville and 
St Augustin, QC

1997 Taiga’s  
New 
Westminster 
BC wood 
preservation 
plant relocated 
to Langley BC

1993 Taiga 
became a public 
company, trading 
on the TSX under 
the symbol TBL

1987 Taiga 
established 
a wood 
preservation 
facility and 
distribution 
centre in New 
Westminster BC

1990 Taiga 
Winnipeg MB 
and Kelowna  
BC established 

1998 Taiga 
established an 
export sales 
department 
operated out of 
Burnaby BC

2007 Taiga 
established 
Taiga 
International 
Sales, a lumber 
trading division 
based out of 
Oakville ON, 
selling into  
the US

2010 Taiga 
International 
Sales opened  
an office in 
Buffalo NY

2011 Taiga 
opened a 
distribution 
centre in 
Moncton NB

2013 May 16th 
2013 Taiga 
celebrates its 
40th anniversary

5Taiga Building Products Ltd., Annual Report Ending March 31, 2013

1994 Taiga 
opened 
distribution 
centres in 
Halifax NS and 
Sudbury ON



VISION Taiga is committed to being North America’s most  
reliable and efficient distributor of building products.

CORE VALUES
Doing more with less

Our people, in all scopes of responsibility, are diligent 
about streamlining operations and increasing profitability; 
driving wasteful costs out of the business while making 
service levels more effective for customers and suppliers.

Entrepreneurial spirit
Our branches are both profit and decision centres for our 
management team. Our people are empowered to express 
ideas, make pivotal decisions and take appropriate risks 
that create added value. We believe that great talent is a 
company’s strongest asset and invest in attracting the best 
people with a drive to achieve. Performance that supports 
both our mission and vision is recognized and rewarded.

Integrity 
Taiga fosters a culture of honesty, trustworthiness and 
respect for each other, our customers and suppliers, our 
shareholders, and our community. At all times we operate 
with respect to governing laws, regulations and company 
policies. Our behaviour as individuals and as an organization 
will always be held to the highest ethical standards. We 
believe that giving back to the community in which our 
employees live is part of that responsibility. Taiga donates to 
charitable organizations that support housing, education and 
other worthy causes in our communities.

Great people, doing 
whatever it takes

WE WILL:
 Ä Know our business/markets  
better than anyone in the business

 Ä Attract and retain the best talent 
the distribution industry has to offer

 Ä Be a market leader in chosen 
product categories

 Ä Operate at a lower cost than any 
other company in our industry

MISSION



Distribution Centre
Wood Preservation Plant
Reload Centres

Milton, Ontario 
68,000 sq.ft. building on 11.5 acres 

Distribution Centre 
 
 

Sudbury, Ontario 
14,000 sq.ft. building on 5.0 acres 

Distribution Centre
 
 

Monetville, Ontario 
20,924 sq.ft. building on 10.8 acres 

Wood Preservation Plant 
 
 

Boucherville, Quebec 
52,923 sq.ft building on 12.0 acres 

Distribution Centre 
 

St. Augustin, Quebec 
36,000 sq.ft. building on 7.0 acres 

Distribution Centre 

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan 
14,400 sq.ft. building on 4.0 acres 
Distribution Centre  
 
 
Regina, Saskatchewan 
21,000 sq.ft. building on 4.2 acres 
Distribution Centre 
 
 
Winnipeg, Manitoba  
14,000 sq.ft. building on 4.0 acres 
Distribution Centre 
 

Kelowna, British Columbia 
14,500 sq.ft. building on 2.5 acres 

Distribution Centre  
 
 

Langley, British Columbia 
105,000 sq.ft. building on 10.0 acres  

Distribution Centre  
 
 

Langley, British Columbia 
42,000 sq.ft. building on 12.4 acres  

Wood Preservation Plant  
 
 

Nanaimo, British Columbia  
10,500 sq.ft. building on 2.0 acres 

Distribution Centre 

Paradise, Newfoundland 
11,000 sq.ft. building on 1.5 acres  

Distribution Centre  
 
 

Dartmouth, Nova Scotia 
58,000 sq.ft. building on 6.5 acres 

Distribution Centre 
 
 

Moncton, New Brunswick 
20,000 sq.ft. building on 2 acres 

Distribution Centre 

 
Rocklin, California 
100,000 sq.ft. building on 15.0 acres 
Distribution Centre 
 
 
Sanger, California 
109,250 sq.ft. building on 12.6 acres 
Distribution Centre

Edmonton, Alberta 
85,000 sq.ft. building on 14.0 acres 
Distribution Centre  
 
 
Edmonton, Alberta  
54,000 sq.ft. building on 8.5 acres 
Wood Preservation Plan 
 
 
Calgary, Alberta
50,000 sq.ft. building on 15.0 acres 
Distribution Centre
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

believes it has a reasonable basis for making the forward-
looking statements included in this document, readers are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking 
information. By its nature, the forward-looking information of 
Taiga involves numerous assumptions and inherent risks and 
uncertainties, both general and specific, that contribute to the 
possibility that the predictions, forecasts and other forward-
looking statements will not occur. These factors include, but 
are not limited to: changes in business strategies; the effects 
of litigation, competition and pricing pressures; changes in 
operational costs; changes in laws and regulations, including 
tax, environmental, employment, competition, anti-terrorism 
and trade laws and Taiga’s anticipation of and success in 
managing the risks associated with the foregoing; and other 
risks detailed in this MD&A under “Risks and Uncertainties” and 
Taiga’s filings with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities 
available at www.sedar.com. These forward-looking statements 
speak only as of the date of this discussion and analysis. Taiga 
does not undertake, and specifically disclaims, any obligation to 
update or revise any forward looking information, whether as a 
result of new information, future developments or otherwise, 
except as required by applicable law.

Non-IFRS Financial Measure: 
In this MD&A, reference is made to EBITDA, which represents 
earnings before interest, taxes, and amortization. As there 
is no generally accepted method of calculating EBITDA, the 
measure as calculated by Taiga might not be comparable to 
similarly titled measures reported by other issuers. EBITDA is 
presented as management believes it is a useful indicator of a 
company’s ability to meet debt service and capital expenditure 
requirements and because management interprets trends 
in EBITDA as an indicator of relative operating performance. 
EBITDA should not be considered by an investor as an 
alternative to net income or cash flows as determined in 
accordance with IFRS. Reconciliations of EBITDA to net 
earnings reported in accordance with IFRS are included in this 
MD&A. 

Market and Industry Data: 
Unless otherwise indicated, the market and industry data 
contained in this MD&A is based upon information of 
independent industry and government publications and 
management’s knowledge of, and experience in, the markets 
in which the Company operates. While management believes 
this data to be reliable, market and industry data is subject to 
variation and cannot be verified with complete certainty due to 
limits on the availability and reliability of raw data, the voluntary 
nature of the data gathering process and other limitations and 
uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey. The Company 
has not independently verified any of the data from third party 
sources referred to in this MD&A and no representation is 
given as to the accuracy of any of the data referred to in this 
MD&A obtained from third party sources.

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of 
Taiga Building Products Ltd. (“Taiga” or the “Company”) 
has been prepared based on information available as at 
June 20, 2013 and should be read in conjunction with 
the audited consolidated financial statements and the 
corresponding notes thereto for the years ended March 31, 
2013 and 2012. This discussion and analysis provides an 
overview of significant developments that have affected 
Taiga’s performance during the fiscal year. 

The financial information reported herein has been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and is expressed in Canadian 
dollars. The Company adopted IFRS as at April 1, 2011 with 
a transition date of April 1, 2010. Financial information 
disclosed in this MD&A related to periods ending prior to 
April 1, 2010 has not been restated. 

Taiga’s consolidated financial statements and the 
accompanying notes included within this report include the 
accounts of Taiga and its subsidiaries. Unless otherwise 
noted, all references in this MD&A to “dollars” or “$” are 
to Canadian dollars. 

Additional information relating to the Company including 
the Company’s Annual Information Form dated June 20, 
2013 can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Forward-Looking Statements: 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information 
and statements relating, but not limited, to future events 
or performance and strategies and expectations of Taiga. 
Forward-looking information typically contains statements with 
words such as “consider”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “expect”, 
“plan”, “intend”, “likely”, “may”, “will”, “should”, “predict”, 
“potential”, “continue” or similar words suggesting future 
outcomes or statements regarding expectations, beliefs, 
plans, objectives, assumptions, intentions or statements about 
future events or performance. Examples of such forward-
looking statements within this document include statements 
relating to: the Company’s perception of the building products 
industry and markets in which it participates and anticipated 
trends in such markets in any of the countries in which the 
Company does business; the Company’s anticipated business 
operations, inventory levels and ability to meet order demand; 
the Company’s anticipated ability to procure products and 
its relationship with suppliers; sufficiency of cash flows; 
and outcome of litigation. Readers should be aware that 
these statements are subject to known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results 
to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements reflect 
management’s current expectations or beliefs and are based 
on information currently available to Taiga and although Taiga 

http://www.sedar.com
http://www.sedar.com


 1. Business Overview

Taiga is the largest independent wholesale distributor of building products in Canada. Taiga distributes building products 
in Canada, the United States and overseas. As a wholesale distributor, Taiga maintains substantial inventories of building 
products at fifteen strategically located distribution centres throughout Canada and two distribution centres in California. In 
addition, Taiga regularly distributes through the use of third party reload centres. Taiga also owns and operates three wood 
preservation plants that produce pressure-treated wood products. Factors that affect Taiga’s year-over-year profitability 
include, among others, sales levels, price fluctuations and product mix.

Taiga’s primary market is Canada. Taiga expects the Canadian housing market in calendar year 2013 to decline slightly 
compared to calendar year 2012. 

In 2012, Taiga’s secondary market, the United States, started to show signs of recovery from the US housing depression. 
During 2012, US housing starts increased, inventories of homes available for sale declined and lending conditions eased.  
The Company expects the United States housing market to improve in the 2013 calendar year. See Item 13 “Outlook”.

  Selected Annual Information
                    Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

(in millions of dollars, except for share amounts and per share amounts in dollars) 2013 2012 2011

Income Statement Data:
Sales  1,133  971.6  981.8
Gross Margin 102.8 95.8 88.7
Net Earnings 10.4 3.7 4.0
Net Earnings per Share (Basic and Fully Diluted)(1) 0.32 0.11 0.12

Cash Dividends per Share 0.03 - 0.09

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding 32,414,278 32,414,278 32,414,278

EBITDA(2) 42.9 34.6 33.4

Balance Sheet Data:
Working Capital(3) 48.2 47.4 38.3
Total Assets 346.4 298.6 279.1

Total Long-Term Financial Liabilities(4) 155.7 159.1 155.0

Notes: 
(1) Net earnings per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of shares.
(2) Reconciliation of net earnings to EBITDA: 

                         Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
(in millions of dollars) 2013 2012 2011

Net earnings 10.4 3.7 4.0

Income tax expense 4.8 3.5 3.2

Finance and subordinated debt interest expense 23.7 23.4 22.4

Amortization 4.0 4.0 3.8

EBITDA 42.9 34.6 33.4

    

(3) Working capital is the excess of current assets over current liabilities.
(4) Total long-term financial liabilities are the total liabilities less current liabilities and deferred gain.

 2. Results of Operations

  Sales
The Company’s consolidated net sales for the year ended March 31, 2013 were $1,132.7 million compared to $971.6 million 
for the last fiscal year. The 17% increase in sales was largely due to higher commodity prices and stronger demand from the 
United States. 

Sales by segments are as follows:

 Years ended March 31,

 2013  2012

$000’s % $000’s %

Canada 1,050,414 92.7  907,984 93.5

United States 82,329 7.3 63,641 6.5
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For the fiscal year, export sales totalled $154.1 million compared to $122.7 million in the previous year. These export sales 
were primarily to the United States and Asia, and are included as part of the Canadian segment in the table above. 

The Company’s sales of dimension lumber and panel, as a percentage of total sales, increased to 62.3% for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2013 compared to 57.8% last year. Annual average lumber prices increased by 33% while oriented strand 
board (OSB) prices increased by 88%. Allied, engineered and treated wood product sales, as a percentage of total sales, 
decreased to 37.7% this year from 42.2% last year.

  Gross Margin
Gross margin for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 increased to $102.8 million from $95.8 million in the previous year. 
Gross margin percentage for the year declined to 9.1% compared to 9.9% as the growth in sales of commodity products 
outpaced the higher margin products. 

  Expenses
Distribution expense for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 decreased slightly to $18.4 million from $18.6 million last year. 

Selling and administration expense for the year ended March 31, 2013 decreased to $46.0 million compared to $46.4 million 
due in part to the timing of compensation accruals. 

Finance expense for the year ended March 31, 2013 increased to $7.3 million compared to $7.0 million last year. The increase 
was primarily due to higher average borrowings associated with higher volume of product purchases during the year.

Subordinated debt interest expense was $16.4 million for both years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012.

Other income for the year ended March 31, 2013 was $0.4 million compared to an expense of $0.2 million last year. In May 
2012, Taiga exited the lease in Brampton and the remaining balance of deferred gain arising from the sale and leaseback 
transaction was recognized as income. 

  Net Earnings 
Net earnings for the year ended March 31, 2013 increased to $10.4 million from $3.7 million last year primarily due to 
increased gross margin. 

  EBITDA
EBITDA for the year ended March 31, 2013 was $42.9 million compared to $34.6 million last year. 

 3. Fourth Quarter Results

A summary of the results for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:
          Three months ended March 31,

(in thousands of dollars except per share amount in dollars) 2013 2012

Sales 259,596 226,977
Gross margin 21,796 22,552
Distribution expense 4,572 4,816
Selling and administration expense 10,789 12,179

Finance expense 1,930 1,938

Subordinated debt interest expense 4,143 4,337
Other expense 11 394

Earnings (loss) before income tax 351 (1,112)
Income tax (recovery) expense (14) 381

Net earnings (loss) 365 (1,493)
Net earnings (loss) per share 0.01 (0.05)
EBITDA(1) 7,500 6,151

Note:  
(1) See “Fourth Quarter Results – EBITDA” for a reconciliation of net earnings (loss) to EBITDA.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis



  Sales 
Sales for the fourth quarter increased to $259.6 million from $227.0 million in the same quarter last year. The 14% increase 
in sales was largely due to higher commodity prices and stronger demand from the United States. Sales by segments are as 
follows:

Three months ended March 31,
 2013  2012

$000’s % $000’s %

Canada 237,791 91.6  211,743 93.3

United States 21,805 8.4 15,234 6.7

During the fourth quarter, Taiga’s Canadian operations had export sales of $43.6 million compared to $27.6 million in the same 
quarter last year. These export sales were primarily to the United States and Asia, and are included as part of the Canadian 
segment in the table above. 

  Gross Margin
Gross margin for the fourth quarter was $21.8 million compared to $22.6 million in the same quarter last year. Taiga’s gross 
margin percentage for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 was 8.4% compared to 9.9% for the same period last year. Lower 
margin commodity products made up a larger percentage of the product mix in Q4 2013, compared with the same quarter of 
the prior year. In addition, the reversal of product cost over-accruals was lower compared to the same quarter last year.

  Expenses
Distribution expense for the fourth quarter decreased slightly to $4.6 million compared to $4.8 million mostly due to the 
timing of expenses. 

Selling and administration expense for the fourth quarter decreased to $10.8 million compared to $12.2 million due to the 
timing of compensation accruals. 

  Net Earnings 
Net earnings for the fourth quarter increased to $0.4 million compared to a net loss of $1.5 million in the same quarter last 
year. 

  EBITDA 
EBITDA was $7.5 million compared to $6.2 million in the same quarter last year. 

Reconciliation of net earnings (loss) to EBITDA:

           Three months ended March 31,
(in thousands of dollars) 2013 2012

Net earnings (loss) 365 (1,493)

Income tax (recovery) expense (14) 381

Finance and subordinated debt interest expense 6,073 6,275
Amortization 1,076 988

EBITDA 7,500 6,151

 4. Summary of Quarterly Results 
               Fiscal 2013                Fiscal 2012

(in thousands of dollars,  
except per share amount in dollars) Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Sales 259,596 247,714 315,925 309,508 226,977 203,050 277,992 263,606

Net earnings (loss) 365 364 3,788 5,917 (1,493) (1,743) 3,316 3,644

Earnings (loss) per share(1) 0.01 0.01 0.12 0.18 (0.05) (0.05) 0.10 0.11

EBITDA 7,500 7,106 12,903 15,425 6,151 4,806 11,370 12,228

Notes:  
(1) The amounts are identical on a basic and fully-diluted per share basis. Earnings (loss) per share is calculated using the weighted-average number  
 of shares.
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  Seasonality
Taiga’s sales are subject to seasonal variances that fluctuate in accordance with the normal home building season. Taiga 
generally experiences higher sales in the first and second quarters and reduced sales in the late fall and winter during its third 
and fourth quarters of each fiscal year.

 5. Liquidity and Capital Resources

  Revolving Credit Facility 
On July 22, 2010, the Company entered into a senior credit agreement with a syndicate of lenders led by JPMorgan Chase 
Bank, establishing a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) of up to $200 million, with an option to increase the 
limit by up to $25 million. The Facility will mature on July 22, 2014. Taiga’s ability to borrow under the Facility is based upon 
a defined percentage of accounts receivable and inventories. Interest is charged at variable base rates plus variable margins. 
The Facility is secured by a first perfected security interest in all personal property of the Company and certain of its subsidiar-
ies. The terms, conditions, and covenants of the Facility have been met as at March 31, 2013. Taiga had drawn $148.2 million 
on the Facility as at March 31, 2013.

In February 2012, the Company entered into a new credit agreement with Bank of Montreal, establishing a secured revolving 
credit facility (the “BMO Facility”) of up to $5 million. The BMO Facility, which is secured by a first security interest in the 
Company’s Edmonton distribution centre, is a stand-alone facility in addition to the Company’s existing Facility; however, the 
BMO Facility will mature concurrently with the Facility. Interest under the BMO Facility is charged at prime rate adjusted for 
margin. Availability under the BMO Facility is limited to a defined percentage of the appraised value of Edmonton distribution 
centre. The terms, conditions, and covenants of the BMO Facility have been met as at March 31, 2013. Taiga had drawn $2.0 
million on the BMO facility as at March 31, 2013.

Taiga expects to meet its future cash requirements through a combination of cash generated from operations and its credit 
facilities. However, any severe weakening of the Canadian housing market driving reduced product demand or a significant 
increase in bad debts in accounts receivable could adversely impact the Company’s liquidity in the short term. See Item 9 
“Risks and Uncertainties – Liquidity Risks”.

  Working Capital 
Working capital as at March 31, 2013 increased to $48.2 million from $47.4 million as at March 31, 2012 mostly due to 
increased accounts receivable and inventories partially offset by higher balance owing on the Facility. Taiga believes that 
current levels are adequate to meet its working capital requirements.

  Summary of Financial Position 

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Current Assets 295,120 252,462
Current Liabilities (excluding Revolving Credit Facility) (96,648) (95,473)
Revolving Credit Facility (150,223) (109,564)

Working Capital 48,249 47,425

Long Term Assets 51,326 46,187
Long Term Liabilities (excluding Subordinated Notes) (31,182) (35,121)
Subordinated Notes (128,834) (128,834)

Shareholders’ Deficiency (60,441) (70,343)

  Assets
Total assets were $346.4 million as at March 31, 2013 compared to $298.6 million as at March 31, 2012. The increase was 
primarily the result of increased accounts receivable, inventories, and property plant and equipment.

Accounts receivable increased to $136.1 million as at March 31, 2013 from $126.9 million as at March 31, 2012 primarily due 
to increased sales in the fourth quarter.

Inventories increased to $157.7 million as at March 31, 2013 compared to $124.2 million as at March 31, 2012 primarily due 
to increased sales in the fourth quarter and higher commodity prices. 

Property, plant and equipment increased to $48.7 million as at March 31, 2013 compared to $44.2 million as at March 31, 
2012 primarily due to the $6.9 million purchase of the distribution centre in Dartmouth, Nova Scotia in September 2012.
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  Liabilities 
Total liabilities increased to $406.9 million as at March 2013 from $369.0 million as at March 31, 2012. The increase was 
primarily the result of increased balance owing on the Facility in order to support the increased sales driven by higher 
commodity prices, partially offset by decreased remaining balances under finance lease obligation. 

  Contractual Obligations 

(in thousands of dollars) Long term debt Operating lease Finance lease obligation 

No later than one  year 198 2,359 3,736
Later than one year, but not later than five years 1,535 8,924 12,765

Later than five years - 14,610 17,901

  Outstanding Share Data 
The Company has only one class of shares outstanding, its common shares without par value. On June 20, 2013, there were 
32,414,278 common shares outstanding. 

  Dividend Policy 
In accordance with Taiga’s dividend policy set on October 15, 2008 the Company generally intends to pay dividends each 
year on its common shares equal to 25% of the prior fiscal year’s net earnings. These dividends will be in two instalments of 
12.5% on each July 15 (or first business day thereafter) and each January 15 (or first business day thereafter) and are to be 
paid to the shareholders of record on June 30 and December 31 (or first business day thereafter). The payment of any divi-
dends by the Company is subject to the discretion of its board of directors and subject to its determination of the Company’s 
capital and operational requirements, adequacy of reserves and compliance with contractual and legal requirements. 

On January 11, 2013, the board of directors of the Company declared an annual cash dividend of $0.0287 per common share, 
or $930,290. This was equal to 25% of the net earnings in respect of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012. The dividend 
record date was January 22, 2013 and the payment date was January 29, 2013.

The board of directors has decided not to declare and pay the first instalment dividend in respect of the 2013 fiscal year’s 
net earnings. The decision to pay the second instalment dividend in respect of the 2013 fiscal year’s net earnings will be 
considered prior to the next scheduled dividend payment date on January 15, 2014.

  History of Retained Earnings (Deficit) 
The following table shows Taiga’s history of net earnings, dividends payouts, the impact of transition to IFRS, and the impact 
of the Stapled Unit conversion since fiscal year 2006:

FY2013 FY2012 FY2011 FY2006 to FY2010
(in thousands of dollars) IFRS IFRS IFRS CGAAP

Retained earnings (deficit), beginning (83,180) (86,904) (90,590) 88,527 
Net earnings 10,434 3,724 4,001 22,054 
Common share dividends (930) - (2,995) (29,837)
Transition to IFRS - - 2,680 -

Issuance of Subordinated Notes - - - (171,334)

Deficit, ending (73,676) (83,180) (86,904) (90,590)

 6. Commitments and Contingencies

a) Contractual Commitments
The Company has obligations under various operating leases for occupied premises and equipment. For further discussion, 
refer to Note 18 to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2013.

b) Law Suit against Former Tax Advisor and Auditor
In connection with the Canada Revenue Agency challenge of the Company’s financing structure, on June 21, 2007 the 
Company filed a claim in the Supreme Court of British Columbia against its former auditor and tax consultant, Deloitte & 
Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), for damages for breach of contract, professional negligence, and breach of fiduciary duty arising 
out of the sale and implementation of a financing plan. On August 15, 2008, Deloitte filed a counter claim in the amount 
of $776,094 for unpaid contingency fees resulting from the sale of the above described financing plan. On May 11, 2011, 
Taiga filed a second claim against Deloitte for breach of contract by withholding consent for Taiga to use audited financial 
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statements, withholding consent to gain advantage in an unrelated fee dispute, and failing to act within the code of profes-
sional conduct. Taiga believes that Deloitte’s claim is without merit but the outcome of the case is not determinable at this 
time.

c) Executive Transition Agreements
During December 2008, the Company entered into transition agreements with three of its executives. These agreements 
include consulting contracts with terms of three years each with commencement dates ranging from April 2009 to April 
2012. During September 2011, the Company amended one of the transition agreements to defer the commencement date 
from April 2012 to a date to be determined. The annual compensation for each contract, including both the fixed and variable 
portions, will range from a minimum of $111,000 to a maximum of $731,000. The Company is recording liabilities associated 
with the contracts over the service terms. The fair value of liabilities accrued as at March 31, 2013 were $934,515 (March 31, 
2012 - $1,233,616). The fair value was determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows.

 7. Risks and Uncertainties

The results of operations, business prospects and financial conditions of Taiga are subject to a number of risks and uncertain-
ties, and are affected by a number of factors outside Taiga’s control. Any of these risks and uncertainties could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s operations, financial conditions and cash flow and, accordingly, should be carefully 
considered in evaluating Taiga’s business.

  Dependence on Market and Economic Conditions
Demand for Taiga’s products depends significantly upon the residential construction market and home improvement market. 
The level of activity in these markets depends on many factors, including the general demand for housing, interest rates, 
availability of financing, housing affordability, levels of unemployment, shifting demographic trends, gross domestic product 
growth, consumer confidence, changes in the rate of housing starts, and other general economic conditions, which are 
beyond Taiga’s control. Also, since such markets are sensitive to cyclical changes in the economy, future downturns in the 
economy or lack of further improvement in the economy could have a material adverse effect on Taiga’s financial condition 
and results of operations.

  Liquidity Risks
Taiga’s ability to make scheduled payments of its obligations depends on its successful financial and operating performance, 
cash flows and capital resources, which in turn depend upon prevailing economic conditions and certain financial, business 
and other factors, many of which are beyond Taiga’s control. 

The Company’s ability to maintain compliance with certain of its debt covenants under its revolving credit facility depends 
on the borrowing base connected to a defined percentage of accounts receivable and inventories, which is subject to the 
Company’s future financial and operating performance. 

The Company’s ability to meet its future debt service and other obligations may depend in significant part on the extent to 
which the Company can implement successfully its business growth and cost management strategies. The Company cannot 
provide any assurance that it will be able to implement its strategy fully or that the anticipated results of its strategy will be 
realized. The Company expects to meet future cash requirements in part through its revolving credit facility.

In 2009, disruptions in the United States, Canada and other credit markets adversely affected the availability of credit and the 
financial markets in general. These disruptions continue to impact the Company’s operations as a result of their impact on 
housing starts and the residential housing markets.

  Sales and Margin Risk and Fluctuations in Commodity Prices
Taiga’s profitability depends on its ability to maintain and grow sales to its customers and to sustain its profit margins. If 
Taiga’s operating costs increase or if the prices for which Taiga is able to sell its products fall, its sales or margins, or both, will 
be adversely affected. 

Taiga’s sales volumes are affected by general economic conditions impacting the housing industry, competition and relation-
ships with customers and suppliers. Adverse changes in any one of these factors can significantly reduce Taiga’s sales 
volumes. 

Commodity prices fluctuate with market supply and demand and other factors, and these fluctuations can be volatile. Taiga’s 
profitability is directly influenced by the cost of certain commodity products, such as plywood, oriented strand board, panel 
boards and dimension lumber. The prices of such commodity products are beyond the control of Taiga. Sudden changes 
in commodity prices may adversely impact Taiga’s operating results. There can be no assurance that Taiga’s producers or 
manufacturers will continue to have these commodity products available to them at reasonable prices or that significant 
increases in the costs of such commodities will not materially adversely affect Taiga’s operations. 
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  Supply of Commodities
Dimension lumber and panel products are important components of Taiga’s product mix. Due to political and environmental 
restrictions on logging in North America, the availability of adequate lumber supply in the future could adversely affect Taiga’s 
growth. Taiga’s policy of buying from as many established producers as possible, and its practice of establishing a number of 
supply arrangements are designed to ensure continued supply, but there can be no assurance that such measures will reduce 
the risk of limited supply in the future.

  Supply-Side Risks
Taiga distributes building products produced or supplied by a number of major suppliers. Taiga currently does not have long 
term contracts with any of its major suppliers and many of its arrangements with its suppliers are not contained in written 
agreements. Although Taiga believes that it has access to similar products from competing suppliers, any disruption in Taiga’s 
sources of supply, or any material fluctuation in the quality, quantity or cost of such supply, could have a material adverse 
effect upon Taiga’s results of operations and financial condition. 

In addition, many of Taiga’s suppliers and other service providers have unionized work forces. If one or more of Taiga’s 
suppliers or service providers experience a material work stoppage or slow down, it could materially adversely affect Taiga’s 
ability to secure sufficient inventory and therefore could materially adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. Also, supply shortages occur at times as a result of unanticipated demand, production difficulties 
or delivery delays. In such cases, building material and commodity suppliers often allocate products among distributors. 
Future supply shortages may occur from time to time and may have a short term material adverse effect on Taiga’s results of 
operations and financial conditions. 

  Commodity Price Risk
The wholesale building products distribution industry is characterized by large sales volumes and low gross margins. It is 
highly sensitive to price, quality, timeliness of delivery and continuity of supply. In addition, the demand for some of Taiga’s 
products is cyclical and prices can change rapidly.

Taiga’s buying practices are designed to minimize the risk of rapidly changing prices, although there can be no assurance that 
such practices will actually reduce risk. Generally, Taiga does not hedge its inventory risk through the purchase of lumber 
futures contracts. Substantially all purchases are made based on current orders and anticipated sales, and most sales are 
made from inventory or against product on order. Inventory levels are monitored in an attempt to achieve balance between 
maximum inventory turnover and anticipated customer demand. Although Taiga strives to reduce the risk associated with 
price changes by maximizing inventory turnover, Taiga maintains significant quantities of inventory, which is affected by 
fluctuating prices. 

  Currency Risk
The performance of the Canadian dollar compared to the US dollar presents a certain valuation risk for inventories purchased 
specifically for United States markets. Taiga does not generally hedge these inventories with United States exchange 
forwards, relying instead on rapid inventory turnover. Taiga continually monitors exchange trends and currently does not have 
a material economic foreign currency exposure, however, there can be no assurance that exchange rate fluctuations will not 
adversely affect Taiga’s financial position and profitability. 

  Credit Risk
Taiga extends to its customers credit, which is generally unsecured. Taiga has credit management procedures in place to 
mitigate the risk of losses due to the insolvency or bankruptcy of customers. The Company regularly reviews customer credit 
limits, monitors the financial status of customers, and assesses the collectability of accounts receivable. However, risk exists 
that some customers may not be able to meet their obligations and the loss of a large receivable would have a significant 
negative impact on Taiga’s profitability. 

The Company is also exposed to credit risk from the potential default by any of its counterparties on the interest swap and 
lumber futures contracts. The Company mitigates this credit risk by dealing with counterparties who are established major 
financial institutions. Taiga evaluates potential counterparties in advance of entering into such agreements and deals only with 
parties it anticipates will satisfy their obligations under the contracts.

  Environmental Risk
Taiga’s operations are subject to a wide range of general and industry-specific environmental laws and regulations imposed 
by federal, provincial and local authorities in Canada and the United States, including those governing the use, storage, 
handling, generation, treatment, emission, release, discharge and disposal of certain hazardous materials and wastes, and the 
remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater. Taiga may be subject to liability for the investigation and remediation of 
environmental contamination (including contamination caused by other parties) at properties that it owns or operates and at 
other properties where it or its predecessors have operated or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances. Failure to 
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comply with applicable environmental requirements, including permits related thereto, could result in civil or criminal fines or 
penalties or enforcement actions, including regulatory or judicial orders enjoining or curtailing operations or requiring correc-
tive measures, installation of equipment or remedial actions, any of which could result in significant expenditures or reduced 
results of operations. Management believes that Taiga is in material compliance with all applicable environmental laws and 
regulations and Taiga incurs capital and operating expenditures in the ordinary course to maintain such compliance. However, 
future events such as any changes in these laws and regulations, or any change in their interpretation or enforcement, the 
discovery of currently unknown conditions, or future claims or remediation activities, may give rise to additional expenditures, 
liabilities or cleanup requirements beyond management’s current expectations. Laws and regulations protecting the environ-
ment have generally become more stringent in recent years and could become more stringent in the future. Taiga has made 
provisions for known claims and expected remediation, but such costs are uncertain and there is a risk that Taiga’s provisions 
will not be sufficient. These future events could have a material adverse effect on Taiga’s business, financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows.

  Interest Risk
Taiga utilizes significant leverage to finance day-to-day operations. The interest cost of Taiga’s revolving credit facility is 
predominately prime-based. Increased interest rates will increase Taiga’s operating costs and may reduce net profit after 
income tax. Taiga monitors current interest rates and selectively utilizes interest rate swap agreements. 

  Competition 
Taiga faces competition from one or more competitors in all geographic areas where it sells products. Taiga competes with 
many local, regional and national distributors and producers that engage in direct sales. Taiga’s competition varies by product 
line, customer classification and geographic market.

The highly competitive market in which Taiga conducts its business may require it to reduce its prices from time to time. 
If competitors offer discounts on certain products or services in an effort to capture or gain market share or to sell other 
products, Taiga may determine to lower prices or offer other favourable terms in order to compete successfully. Any such 
changes could reduce Taiga’s margins and adversely affect operating results. 

Competitors may provide guarantees of prices. This practice could, over time, limit the prices that Taiga charges for its 
products. If Taiga cannot offset price reductions with a corresponding increase in sales or with reduced expenses, then Taiga’s 
margins and operating results would be adversely affected. 

Some of the companies that compete with Taiga have greater financial and other resources than those of Taiga or may have 
access to government incentives, labour or products that are not available to Taiga. There can be no assurance that Taiga’s 
principal competitors will not be successful in capturing, or that new competitors will not emerge and capture, a share of 
Taiga’s present or potential customer base. 

In addition, it is possible that some of Taiga’s suppliers or customers could become competitors of Taiga if they decide to 
distribute their own building products and bypass distributors like Taiga. This risk could be increased as a result of the recent 
consolidation by both producers and retailers of building products, who may be encouraged to deal directly rather than 
through distributors. Furthermore, if one or more of Taiga’s competitors were to merge or partner with another of its competi-
tors, the change in the competitive landscape could adversely affect Taiga’s ability to compete effectively. Competitors may 
also establish or strengthen relationships with parties with whom Taiga has relationships, thereby limiting Taiga’s ability to 
distribute certain products. Disruptions in Taiga’s business caused by these events could reduce its revenues. 

  Seasonal and Cyclical Nature of Taiga’s Business 
The business of Taiga is, to a significant degree, seasonal and cyclical, and fluctuates in advance of the normal building 
season. Inventory is built up during the first and fourth quarters of the calendar year in anticipation of the building seasons, 
and the busy selling season begins in the last half of the first quarter and extends to the end of the third quarter of the 
calendar year. Additionally, Taiga is subject to the normal economic cycle, the housing cycle and to macroeconomic factors, 
such as interest rates. Although Taiga anticipates that these seasonal and cyclical fluctuations will continue in the foreseeable 
future, it is seeking to reduce their impact on its operations and sales. 

  Product Liability Claims
Taiga may from time to time be subject to claims for damages resulting from defects in products that it distributes. Product 
liability claims, even if unsuccessful, may result in significant litigation costs to defend such claims as well as other costs 
incurred to remedy the problem, which could substantially increase Taiga’s expenses. Taiga believes that it maintains 
adequate insurance coverage for risks of product liability claims.

  New Regulations 
With the exception of the application of environmental regulations, in particular those affecting the treatment of Taiga’s 
treated wood products, Taiga’s business is currently subject to few laws and regulations. Generally, there are laws that 
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regulate credit practices, transporting products, importing and exporting products and employment. Such laws, regulations 
and related rules and policies are administered by various federal, provincial, municipal, regional and local agencies and 
other governmental authorities. New laws affecting Taiga’s business could be enacted or changes to existing laws could be 
implemented, each of which might have a significant impact on Taiga’s business. Failure of Taiga to comply with applicable 
laws and regulations may subject Taiga to civil or regulatory proceedings which may have a material adverse effect on its 
financial condition and results of operations. As Taiga may expand its United States operations in the future, the potential for 
greater risk due to greater exposure of Taiga to United States regulations would also increase accordingly.

  Dependence on Key Personnel 
Taiga is dependent on the continued services of its senior management team, and its ability to retain other key personnel. 
Although Taiga believes that it could replace such key employees in a timely fashion should the need arise, the loss of such 
key personnel could have a material adverse effect on Taiga. 

Although Taiga does not have a unionized workforce, there can be no assurance that there will not be any labour disruptions, 
or that Taiga will not incur higher labour costs in the future, either of which could materially adversely affect Taiga’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Furthermore, as part of Taiga’s growth strategy, Taiga may need to hire additional highly qualified individuals, including finance, 
sales and marketing personnel. There can be no assurance that Taiga will be able to attract, assimilate or retain qualified 
personnel in the future, which would adversely affect its ability to distribute new product lines and increase revenues. 

  Information Systems Risk 
Taiga implemented a new enterprise wide information system and accounting system. The new systems were placed in 
service in February 2011. The new systems are designed to provide information to Taiga’s management which is expected to 
be used to enhance financial controls and to develop sales and marketing strategies. There can be no assurance that the new 
systems will provide the information and benefits expected by management.

  Availability of Future Financing 
Taiga expects that going forward its principal sources of funds will be cash generated from its operating activities and borrow-
ing capacity remaining under its revolving credit facility or future credit facilities. Taiga believes that these funds will provide 
it with sufficient liquidity and capital resources to meet its current and future financial obligations, as well as to provide funds 
for its financing requirements, capital expenditures and other needs for the foreseeable future. Despite its expectations, 
however, Taiga may require additional equity or, beyond current credit facilities, debt financing to meet its cash requirements 
and financial obligations. Such financing may not be available when required or may not be available on commercially favour-
able terms or on terms that are otherwise satisfactory to Taiga. 

  Level of Dividends
The board of directors of the Company may, in its discretion, amend or repeal the Company’s dividend policy. The Company’s 
board of directors may decrease the level of dividends provided for in the Company’s dividend policy or entirely discontinue 
the payment of dividends. 

While the Company is contractually obligated to make interest payments on its outstanding subordinated notes, subject to 
certain deferral provisions, cash distributions by the Company on the common shares are not guaranteed and will fluctuate 
with the performance of the business of Taiga at the discretion of the board of directors.

  Income Taxes
Taiga believes that it is in material compliance with all applicable federal, provincial, and state income tax legislation in Canada 
and the United States. However, income tax returns are subject to reassessment by the applicable taxation authority. In the 
event of a successful reassessment of Taiga, such reassessment may have an impact on current and future taxes payable. 

Taiga is subject to ongoing examination by tax authorities in each jurisdiction in which it has operations. Taiga regularly 
assesses the status of these examinations and the potential for adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of the provi-
sion for current and deferred income taxes, as well as the provision for indirect, withholding and other taxes as well as related 
penalties and interest. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions, which involves judgments about future events. 
It also relies on interpretations of tax law, including general anti-avoidance provisions (GAAR), and prior experience. New 
information may become available that causes Taiga to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of its provisions related to 
income and other taxes. Any changes will be recorded prospectively in the period that such determinations are made. There 
is no assurance that adequate provisions have been or will be made by Taiga to fully cover its possible exposure to tax related 
liabilities.
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  Creditworthiness
The perceived creditworthiness of the Company and its respective subsidiaries that have guaranteed the outstanding 
subordinated notes may affect the market price or value and the liquidity of the common shares and subordinated notes.

 8. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The significant accounting policies of Taiga are described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2013. 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, Taiga’s management was required to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts recorded. Financial results as determined by actual events could differ from such estimates. The 
estimates and assumptions of the Company’s management are based on historical experience and other factors management 
considers to be reasonable, including expectations of future events. The estimates and assumptions that could result in a 
material impact to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined below.

  Allowance for doubtful accounts
While significant bad debts have not been experienced in prior years the provision is based on the Company’s knowledge of 
the financial condition of its customers, the aging of the receivables, the current business environment and historical experi-
ence. A change in one or more of these factors could impact the estimated allowance and provision for bad debts. Taiga’s 
allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2013 was $0.1 million (2012 – $0.2 million).

  Valuation of inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. Taiga evaluates inventory balances at each 
balance sheet date and records a provision as necessary for slow moving or obsolete inventory. Additionally, Taiga records a 
provision if the cost of inventories exceeds net realizable value based on commodity prices. Inventory provision as at March 
31, 2013 was $0.8 million (2012 – $0.7 million).

  Valuation and estimated life of long-lived assets
An impairment test is performed by comparing the carrying amount of the asset or its cash generating unit to the recoverable 
amount, which is calculated as the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. Value in use is calculated based upon a discounted cash flow analysis, which requires management to make a number of 
significant assumptions including assumptions relating to future operating plans, discount rates and future growth rates.

The estimated useful lives and recoverable amounts of long-lived assets are based on the judgement of management and 
the best currently available information. Changes in circumstances can result in the actual useful lives differing from manage-
ment’s estimates.

  Customer rebates
Customer rebates are commonly offered as industry practice and are generally based on achievement of specified volume 
sales levels. Taiga accrues for the payment of customer rebates as a reduction of revenue based on management’s estimates. 

  Valuation of warranty provisions
A provision for future potential warranty costs is calculated using historical trends and future expectations of future claims. 
Adjustments to the warranty provision are included in cost of sales. Actual future warranty costs may differ from those 
estimates.

  Executive transition agreement
The provision is based on management’s estimates of factors such as discount rates, expected date of each transition and 
variable compensation tied to the Company’s future performance.

  Current and deferred taxes
The Company calculates current and deferred tax provisions for each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. Actual amounts 
of income tax expense are not final until tax returns are filed and accepted by the relevant authorities. This occurs subsequent 
to the issuance of financial statements. Therefore, results in subsequent periods will be affected by the amount that esti-
mates differ from the final tax return.

Judgment is required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognized on the 
balance sheet. Taiga also evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on an assessment of the likelihood of 
using the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income before they expire. Deferred tax liabilities arising 
from temporary differences on investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are recognized unless the reversal 
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of the temporary differences is not expected to occur in the foreseeable future and can be controlled. Assumptions about the 
generation of future taxable profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on management’s estimates of future sales 
volumes and housing starts, commodity prices, operating costs, capital expenditures, dividends and other capital transactions. 
Judgment is also required about the application of income tax legislation. These estimates and judgments are subject to 
risk and uncertainty and could result in an adjustment to the deferred tax provision and a corresponding credit or charge to 
income.

 9. Changes in Accounting Standards

  Financial instruments 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) on November 
12, 2009 and will replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 uses a single 
approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 
39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment 
method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2015. The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial 
statements. 

  Consolidation 
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) was issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011 and will replace IAS 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (“IAS 27”), and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities (“SIC-12”). 
Concurrent with IFRS 10, the IASB issued IFRS 11, Joint Ventures; IFRS 12, Disclosures of Involvement with Other Entities; 
IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, which has been amended for the issuance of IFRS 10 but retains the current guid-
ance for separate financial statements; IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, which has been amended for 
conforming changes based on the issuance of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11. IFRS 10 uses control as the single basis for consolidation, 
irrespective of the nature of the investee, eliminating the risks and rewards approach included in SIC-12, and requires continu-
ous assessment of control over an investee. 

  Joint arrangements
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”) was issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011 and will replace lAS 31, Interests in Joint 
Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities-Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 requires a venturer to 
classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation the venture will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, 
revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or 
equity account for interests in joint ventures. 

  Disclosures of interests in other entities
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”) was issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011. IFRS 12 establishes 
disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles 
and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional 
disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. 

  Fair value measurement
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”) was issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011. This new standard replaces the 
fair value measurement guidance currently included in various other IFRS standards with a single definition of fair value 
and extensive application guidance. IFRS 13 provides guidance on how to measure fair value and does not introduce new 
requirements for when fair value is required or permitted. It also establishes disclosure requirements to provide users of the 
financial statements with more information about fair value measurements. 

IFRS 10, 11, 12 and 13 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does not expect 
the adoption of these standards to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

  Financial statement presentation
In June 2011, the IASB and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued amendments to standards to align the 
presentation requirements for other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of 
Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) to require companies preparing financial statements under IFRS to group items within OCI that 
may be reclassified to profit or loss. The amendments also reaffirm existing requirements that items in OCI and profit or loss 
should be presented as either a single statement or two consecutive statements. The amendments are effective for fiscal 
years beginning on or after July 1, 2012.
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  Amendments to other standards
In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure, and 
IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. IFRS 7 amendments require disclosure about the effects of offsetting financial 
assets and financial liabilities and related arrangements on an entity’s financial position and is effective for periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013. IAS 32 addresses inconsistencies when applying the offsetting requirements, and is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Company has not early-adopted these new or revised standards and 
amendments to existing standards and is currently assessing the impact that these standards may have on the consolidated 
financial statements.

 10. Related Party Transactions

In accordance with IFRS requirements, related party transactions consist of remuneration of directors and other key 
management personnel with whom Taiga has entered into employment agreements. Further information is contained in our 
Management Information Circular dated June 21, 2012, which is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The remuneration 
for key management, which includes the Company’s Board of Directors and Officers, were as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended  

March 31, 2013
Year ended  

March 31, 2012

Salaries and other benefits 1,953 2,378
Transition agreement - 802

Total 1,953 3,180

 11. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Taiga does not have off-balance sheet arrangements except for commitments under operating leases as discussed under 
“Commitments and Contingencies” in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

For a detailed description of financial instruments and their associated risks, see Note 20 to the Company’s audited consoli-
dated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013.

 12. Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Taiga’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate disclosure controls and procedures and internal 
controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the prepara-
tion of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with IFRS.

In accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim 
Filings, Taiga’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the Company’s 
disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. Based on the evaluation, Taiga’s CEO and 
CFO concluded that these controls were effective for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013. 

The CEO and CFO of Taiga acknowledge responsibility for the design of internal controls over financial reporting and confirm 
that there were no changes in these controls that occurred during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 which materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect , the Company’s ICFR.

 13. Outlook

Taiga’s financial performance is primarily dependent on the residential construction, renovation and repairs markets. These 
markets are affected by the strength or weakness in the general economy and as such are influenced by interest rates and 
other general market indicators. The weak economic conditions in the United States and any resulting economic weakening in 
Canada may continue to have an adverse impact on the Company’s performance in the future. 

In Canada, according to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”) Housing Market Outlook, Canadian Edition 
for the first quarter 2013, housing starts are forecasted to total 190,300 in the 2013 calendar year. CMHC is reporting that 
housing starts will increase to 194,100 in the 2014 calendar year. 

In the United States, the National Association of Home Builders (“NAHB”) reported in May 2013, that housing starts are 
forecasted to total 1,005,000 units in the 2013 calendar year compared to 781,000 units in calendar 2012. NAHB predicts that 
housing starts will continue to recover to 1,208,000 units in calendar 2014.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

http://www.sedar.com


  INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Taiga Building Products Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Taiga Building Products Ltd., 

which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at March 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated 

statements of earnings and comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ deficiency and cash 

flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information. 

  Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 

as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

  Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 

audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of express-

ing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

  Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Taiga Building Products Ltd. as at March 31, 2013 and 2012, and its financial performance and 

its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

 

DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
Vancouver, Canada 
June 20, 2013
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

  Taiga Building Products Ltd.  
  Consolidated Balance Sheets 
  

March 31 March 31
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  2013 2012

Assets
Current:

Accounts receivable (Note 5) $ 136,102 $ 126,878

Inventories (Note 6) 157,716 124,233

Prepaid expenses 1,302 1,351

295,120 252,462

Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 48,664 44,239

Long-term receivable (Note 5) 918 -

Deferred tax assets (Note 10) 1,744 1,948

$ 346,446 $ 298,649

 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficiency
Current:

Revolving credit facility (Note 8) $ 150,223 $ 109,564

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 9) 89,201 88,342

Income taxes payable 5,082 4,947

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 11) 198 195

Current portion of finance lease obligation (Note 12) 2,167 1,989

246,871 205,037

Long-term debt (Note 11) 1,535 1,678

Finance lease obligation (Note 12) 21,506 24,364

Deferred gain 4,279 4,812

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 10) 1,726 2,226

Provisions (Note 13) 2,136 2,041

Subordinated notes (Note 14) 128,834 128,834

406,887 368,992

Shareholders’ Deficiency:

Share capital (Note 15) 13,229 13,229

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 15) 6 (392)

13,235 12,837

Deficit (73,676) (83,180)

(60,441)  (70,343)

$ 346,446 $ 298,649

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12 and 18) 
Subsequent event (Note 18) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Directors

 

 
Kooi Ong Tong 
Chairman

 

Peter Buecking 
Director



  Taiga Building Products Ltd.  
  Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income 
    

 
        For the years ended March 31,

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 2013 2012

Sales $ 1,132,743 $ 971,625

Cost of sales (Note 16) 1,029,928 875,814

Gross margin 102,815 95,811

Expenses:

Distribution (Note 16) 18,393 18,603

Selling and administration (Note 16) 45,962 46,441

Finance (Note 17) 7,302 6,984

Subordinated debt interest (Note 14) 16,356 16,385

Other (income) expense (429) 161

87,584 88,574

Earnings before income tax 15,231 7,237

Income tax expense (Note 10) 4,797 3,513

Net earnings for the period $ 10,434 $ 3,724

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences on translating foreign controlled entities $ 398 $ 248

Total comprehensive income for the period $ 10,832 $ 3,972

Basic and diluted net earnings per common share $ 0.32 $ 0.11

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 32,414 32,414

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficiency

  Taiga Building Products Ltd.  
  Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficiency

 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2012

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Income (Loss)(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Share Capital Deficit Total

Balance at March 31, 2011 $ 13,229 $ (86,904) $ (640) $ (74,315)

Net earnings - 3,724 - 3,724

Other comprehensive income - - 248 248

Balance at March 31, 2012 $ 13,229 $ (83,180) $ (392) $ (70,343)

For the year ended March 31, 2013
Accumulated Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Share Capital Deficit Total

Balance at March 31, 2012 $ 13,229 $ (83,180) $ (392) $ (70,343)

Net earnings - 10,434 - 10,434

Dividends, 3 cents per share - (930) - (930)

Other comprehensive income - - 398 398

Balance at March 31, 2013 $ 13,229 $ (73,676) $ 6 $ (60,441)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Taiga Building Products Ltd.  
  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
    
 

            For the years ended March 31,
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2013 2012

Cash used in:
Operating:

Net earnings $ 10,434 $ 3,724

Adjustments for non-cash items

Amortization 4,045 3,949

Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 482

Income tax expense 4,797 3,513

Mark-to-market adjustment on financial instruments (112) 132

Change in provisions (243) 1,350

(Gain) loss on asset disposal (389) 35

Amortization of deferred gain (533) (377)

Finance and subordinated debt interest expense 23,658 23,369

Interest paid (6,562) (6,189)

Income tax paid (4,714) (3,964)

Changes in non-cash working capital (Note 21) (42,356) (29,267)

Cash flows used in operating activities (11,975) (3,243)

Investing:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (9,229) (2,107)

Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and equipment 306 19

Cash flows used in investing activities (8,923) (2,088)

Financing:
Repayment of long-term debt (195) (2,269)

Proceeds from refinancing of long-term debt - 1,887

Repayment of obligations under finance leases (2,104) (1,546)

Proceeds from sales leaseback - 3,599

Subordinated notes interest paid (16,284) (16,064)

Dividends paid (930) -

Cash flows used in financing activities (19,513) (14,393)

Effect of changes in foreign currency on Revolving Credit Facility (248) (23)

Net decrease in Revolving Credit Facility (40,659) (19,747)

Revolving Credit Facility, beginning (109,564) (89,817)

Revolving Credit Facility, ending $ (150,223) $ (109,564)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (in Canadian dollars)

 1. Nature of Operations

Taiga Building Products Ltd. (“Taiga” or the “Company”) is an independent wholesale distributor of building products in 
Canada and the United States. Taiga operates within two reportable geographic areas, Canada and the United States. The 
Company’s shares and subordinated notes (the “Notes”) are listed for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Taiga is a Canadian corporation and its registered and records office is located at #800 – 4710 Kingsway, Burnaby, British 
Columbia, V5H 4M2.

 2. Basis of Preparation

a) Statement of Compliance
These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue on June 20, 2013 by the board of directors of the 
Company.

b) Basis of Consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Taiga Building Products Ltd. and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries 
are those entities which the Company controls by having the power to govern the financial and operational policies of the 
entity. Inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated.

c) Basis of Measurement
These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on historical 
costs, modified where applicable. 

 3. Significant Accounting Policies

a) Revolving Credit Facility
Revolving credit facility consists of cash on hand less cheques issued and the Company’s outstanding revolving credit facility 
balance. Taiga’s cash flow statement reflects the net change in its revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility forms 
an integral part of Taiga’s cash management and fluctuates directly as a result of cash flows from operating, investing and 
financing activities.

b) Inventories
Inventories consist of allied building products, lumber products, panel products and production consumables. Inventories 
include other costs, such as transportation and processing that are directly incurred to bring the inventories to their present 
location and condition. The cost of treated wood includes the cost of lumber, direct labour and an allocation of fixed and 
variable overhead expenses. Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost and net realizable value, except for production 
consumables which are recorded at the lower of cost and replacement cost which approximates net realizable value.

c) Property, Plant and Equipment
The following assets are recorded at cost and amortization is provided using the following methods and annual rates:

Declining Balance Method     
 Buildings  4% - 10% 
 Furniture and office equipment  8% - 30% 
 Warehouse and manufacturing equipment  10% - 30%

Straight-line Method     
 Leasehold improvements  Over term of lease  
 Treating equipment  20 - 25 Years  
 Computer system and license  3 - 10 Years 

The carrying values of the buildings and equipment are reviewed for indications of impairment on a regular basis by reference 
to their estimated recoverable amount (see note 3(l)). Assets that are not yet available for use are not being amortized.

d) Deferred Gain
Deferred gains on sale and leaseback transactions are amortized over the terms of the lease contracts.



e) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset 
are transferred to the Company are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized by recording an asset and a 
liability at the lower of the fair value of the leased property, plant and equipment or the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability 
and the lease interest expense for the period. Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their 
estimated useful lives or the lease term. Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits 
remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. Lease incentives under operating 
leases are recognized as a liability and amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.

f) Income Taxes

Current income tax:
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 
paid to the relevant taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the jurisdictions where the Company operates and generates taxable income. 
Current income taxes relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income or equity are recognized in other 
comprehensive income or equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 
where appropriate. The Company evaluates each uncertain tax position separately using a “two-step” approach, whereby a 
provision is only recognized when it is probable that an obligation exists that will result in an economic outflow. The obligation 
is then estimated by weighting the range of possible outcomes by their associated probabilities.

Deferred income tax:
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. The carrying amount of deferred 
income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognized only to the extent that it is probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. Deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the report-
ing period. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority.

g) Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currency of each of the Company’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic environ-
ment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the 
parent company’s functional currency. The functional currency of entities that have operations in the United States is the 
United States dollar. 

Transactions and balances:
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured 
at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary items are recognized in profit 
or loss in the statement of earnings and comprehensive income in the period in which they arise, except where deferred in 
equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognized in other comprehensive income in the 
statement of earnings and comprehensive income to the extent that gains and losses arising on those non-monetary items 
are also recognized in other comprehensive income. Where the non-monetary gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss, the 
exchange component is also recognized in profit or loss.

The financial position and results of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Company’s presenta-
tion currency are translated as follows:

 - assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date; and
 - income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (in Canadian dollars)

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss) in the statement of earnings and comprehensive income. These differences are recognized in profit or loss in the period 
in which the operation is disposed. 

h) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized, net of discounts and customer rebates, upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards of owner-
ship, provided collectability is reasonably assured.

i) Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding for the period. The weighted-
average number of common shares is determined by relating the portion of time during the reporting period that the shares 
have been outstanding to the total time in the period.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period including, if applicable, the effects of potentially dilutive common share equivalents. Taiga’s basic and diluted earnings 
per share are equal as Taiga has no potentially dilutive instruments.

j) Accounting by a Customer for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor
Consideration received from a vendor, that represents a reduction in the purchase price, is recorded as a reduction in cost of 
sales.

k) Financial Instruments
The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets and financial liabilities. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial 
instruments at initial recognition. 

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are either held for trading for the purpose 
of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid an 
accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key management 
personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are 
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater 
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable pay-
ments, and it is the Company’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost. Held-to-maturity investments are included in non-current assets, except for where these are expected to mature within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not suitable 
to be classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments 
and are subsequently measured at fair value. These are included in current assets. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized 
in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses. Non-derivative financial 
liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortized cost.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the date the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has been 
impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and prolonged decline in the value of the instru-
ment is considered to be an indication of impairment.

l) Impairment of Assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indica-
tion of impairment. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, or its cash generating unit, is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of impairment. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset or 



its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of earnings and 
comprehensive income. 

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the cur-
rent market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate 
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is only reversed if there is an indication that the impairment may no longer exist and there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Reversal cannot increase the carrying value of an asset 
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized in 
previous years. 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment.

m) Provisions
Provisions are recognized when a present legal or constructive obligation exists, as a result of past events, and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably estimated, will be required to settle the obligation. Where the effect is 
material, the provision is discounted using an appropriate current market-based pre-tax discount rate.

n) Accounting Standards issued not yet applied

Financial instruments 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) on November 
12, 2009 and will replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 uses a single 
approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 
39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment 
method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2015. The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial 
statements. 

Consolidation 
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) was issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011 and will replace IAS 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (“IAS 27”), and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities (“SIC-12”). 
Concurrent with IFRS 10, the IASB issued IFRS 11, Joint Ventures; IFRS 12, Disclosures of Involvement with Other Entities; 
IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, which has been amended for the issuance of IFRS 10 but retains the current guid-
ance for separate financial statements; IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, which has been amended for 
conforming changes based on the issuance of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11. IFRS 10 uses control as the single basis for consolidation, 
irrespective of the nature of the investee, eliminating the risks and rewards approach included in SIC-12, and requires continu-
ous assessment of control over an investee. 

Joint arrangements
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”) was issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011 and will replace lAS 31, Interests in Joint 
Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities-Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 requires a venturer to 
classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation the venture will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, 
revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or 
equity account for interests in joint ventures. 

Disclosures of interests in other entities
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”) was issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011. IFRS 12 establishes 
disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles 
and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional 
disclosure requirements that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. 

Fair value measurement
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”) was issued by the IASB on May 12, 2011. This new standard replaces the 
fair value measurement guidance currently included in various other IFRS standards with a single definition of fair value 
and extensive application guidance. IFRS 13 provides guidance on how to measure fair value and does not introduce new 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (in Canadian dollars)

requirements for when fair value is required or permitted. It also establishes disclosure requirements to provide users of the 
financial statements with more information about fair value measurements. 

IFRS 10, 11, 12 and 13 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does not expect 
the adoption of these standards to have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Financial statement presentation
In June 2011, the IASB and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued amendments to standards to align the 
presentation requirements for other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of 
Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) to require companies preparing financial statements under IFRS to group items within OCI that 
may be reclassified to profit or loss. The amendments also reaffirm existing requirements that items in OCI and profit or loss 
should be presented as either a single statement or two consecutive statements. The amendments are effective for fiscal 
years beginning on or after July 1, 2012.

Amendments to other standards
In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure, and IAS 
32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. IFRS 7 amendments require disclosure about the effects of offsetting financial assets 
and financial liabilities and related arrangements on an entity’s financial position and are effective for periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013. IAS 32 addresses inconsistencies when applying the offsetting requirements, and is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Company has not early-adopted these new or revised standards and 
amendments to existing standards and is currently assessing the impact that these standards may have on the consolidated 
financial statements.

 4. Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements 

a) Significant Estimates and Assumptions
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future 
that affect the amounts recorded. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Estimates and assumptions are based 
on historical experience, expectations of future events and other factors considered by management to be reasonable. The 
estimates and assumptions that could result in a material impact to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined 
below.

Allowance for doubtful accounts
While significant bad debts have not been experienced in prior years the provision is based on the Company’s knowledge of 
the financial condition of its customers, the aging of the receivables, the current business environment and historical experi-
ence. A change in one or more of these factors could impact the estimated allowance and provision for bad debts. 

Valuation of inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. Taiga evaluates inventory balances at each 
balance sheet date and records a provision as necessary for slow moving or obsolete inventory. Additionally, Taiga records 
provision if the cost of inventories exceeds net realizable value based on commodity prices. 

Valuation and estimated life of long-lived assets
An impairment test is performed by comparing the carrying amount of the asset or its cash generating unit to the recoverable 
amount, which is calculated as the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. Value in use is calculated based upon a discounted cash flow analysis, which requires management to make a number of 
significant assumptions including assumptions relating to future operating plans, discount rates and future growth rates.

The estimated useful lives and recoverable amounts of long-lived assets are based on judgement and the best currently 
available information. Changes in circumstances can result in the actual useful lives differing from our estimates.

Customer rebates
Customer rebates are commonly offered as industry practice and are generally based on achievement of specified volume 
sales levels. Taiga accrues for the payment of customer rebates as a reduction of revenue based on management’s estimates. 

Valuation of warranty provisions
A provision for future potential warranty costs is calculated using historical trends and future expectations of future claims. 
Adjustments to the warranty provision are included in cost of sales. Actual future warranty costs may differ from those 
estimates.



Executive transition agreement
The provision is based on management’s estimates of factors such as discount rates, expected date of transitions and variable 
compensation tied to the Company’s future performance (Note 18d).

Current and deferred taxes
The Company calculates current and deferred tax provisions for each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. Actual amounts 
of income tax expense are not final until tax returns are filed and accepted by the relevant authorities and ultimately until they 
are statute barred from reassessment. This occurs subsequent to the issuance of financial statements. Therefore, results in 
subsequent periods will be affected by the amount that estimates differ from the final tax filings, resolution of uncertain tax 
positions, open years or tax disputes that may arise.

The Company must make estimates and assumptions when assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred 
tax liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet. Taiga also evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on an 
assessment of the likelihood of using the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income before they expire. 
Deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary differences on investments in subsidiaries are recognized unless the reversal 
of the temporary differences is not expected to occur in the foreseeable future and can be controlled. Assumptions about the 
generation of future taxable profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on management’s estimates of future sales 
volumes and housing starts, commodity prices, operating costs, capital expenditures, dividends and other capital transactions. 
These estimates and judgments are subject to risk and uncertainty and could result in an adjustment to the deferred tax 
provision and a corresponding credit or charge to income.

b) Significant Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, apart from those 
involving estimates, in applying accounting policies. The most significant judgments in applying the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements include:

 - the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether there are events or conditions that 
may give rise to significant uncertainty;

 - the classification of leases as either operating or finance type leases;
 - the determination of the functional currency of the parent company and its subsidiaries; and
 - the assessment of continually changing tax interpretations, regulations and legislation, to ensure that deferred income tax 

assets and liabilities are complete and fairly stated.

 5. Accounts Receivable
(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Current 131,679   123,876
Past due over 60 days 473 917

Trade accounts receivable 132,152  124,793
Other receivables 4,979 2,323
Financial instrument assets (Note 20) 11 -
Allowance for doubtful accounts (122)  (238)

Total 137,020   126,878
Less: Current portion (136,102) (126,878)

Non-Current portion 918 -

All of the Company’s trade accounts receivables are pledged as security for the revolving credit facility. 

 6. Inventories
(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Allied building products 32,786   32,347
Lumber products 94,426 69,452
Panel products 30,995 22,538
Production consumables 296  564
Inventory provision (787)  (668)

Total 157,716   124,233

All of the Company’s inventories are pledged as security for the revolving credit facility. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (in Canadian dollars)

 7. Property, Plant and Equipment

(in thousands of dollars) Land Buildings

Furniture 
and office 

equipment 

Warehouse 
and treating 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvements

Computer 
system and 

license Total

Cost
Balance, March 31, 2011  4,871 39,056 3,820 13,711 6,999 4,910 73,367
Additions - - 241 802 937 729 2,709
Disposals - -  (668) (1,339) - - (2,007)
Exchange effect 80 196 20 5 (10) - 291

Balance, March 31, 2012  4,951 39,252 3,413 13,179 7,926 5,639 74,360
Additions 4,812 2,394 173 1,138 1,057 594 10,168
Disposals - (1,591) (3) (486) - (904) (2,984)
Exchange effect 53 138 (58) 71 5 (2) 207

Balance, March 31, 2013 9,816 40,193 3,525 13,902 8,988 5,327 81,751

Accumulated amortization and impairment
Balance, March 31, 2011  - (10,293) (2,820) (9,962) (4,492) (38) (27,605)
Amortization - (1,880) (280) (662) (381) (746) (3,949)

Impairment - (482) - - - - (482)

Disposals - -  632 1,321 - - 1,953
Exchange effect - (67) 36 (2) (5) - (38)

Balance, March 31, 2012 - (12,722)  (2,432) (9,305) (4,878) (784) (30,121)
Amortization - (1,829) (268) (907) (443) (598) (4,045)
Disposals - 497   3 277 - 375 1,152
Exchange effect - (63) (4) (7) (3) 4 (73)

Balance, March 31, 2013 - (14,117) (2,701) (9,942) (5,324) (1,003) (33,087)

Carrying amounts
Balance, March 31, 2012 4,951 26,530 981 3,874 3,048 4,855 44,239

Balance, March 31, 2013 9,816 26,076 824 3,960 3,664 4,324 48,664

The computer system and license assets include costs associated with upgrade projects that relate to the computer system 
placed into service in February 2011. As of March 31, 2013, the development costs of the upgrade projects that had not been 
put into use were $261,792 (March 31, 2012 - $837,025). No amortization has been recognized on the components not put 
into use.

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment held under finance lease at March 31, 2013 is $17,237,307 (March 31, 
2012 - $22,707,104). Title of leased assets remains with the lessor.

 8. Revolving Credit Facility

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Revolving credit facility 150,931 110,801   
Financing costs, net of amortization (708) (1,237)

Total 150,223   109,564

On July 22, 2010, the Company entered into a senior credit agreement with a syndicate of lenders led by JPMorgan Chase 
Bank, establishing a senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) of up to $200 million, with an option to increase the 
limit by up to $25 million. The Facility will mature on July 22, 2014. Taiga’s ability to borrow under the Facility is based upon 
a defined percentage of accounts receivable and inventories. Interest is charged at variable base rates plus variable margins. 
The Facility is secured by a first perfected security interest in all personal property of the Company and certain of its subsidiar-
ies. The terms, conditions, and covenants of the Facility have been met as at March 31, 2013.

In February 2012, the Company entered into a new credit agreement with Bank of Montreal, establishing a secured revolving 
credit facility (the “BMO Facility”) of up to $5 million. The BMO Facility, which is secured by a first security interest in the 
Company’s Edmonton distribution centre, is a stand-alone credit facility in addition to the Company’s existing Facility; however, 
the BMO Facility will mature concurrently with the Facility. Interest under the BMO Facility is charged at prime rate adjusted 
for margin thresholds. Availability under the BMO Facility is limited to a defined percentage of the appraised value of the 
Edmonton distribution centre. The terms, conditions, and covenants of the BMO Facility have been met as at March 31, 2013. 



 9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 78,965 80,180
Payroll related liabilities 9,727 7,808
Provisions (Note 13) 509 253
Financial instrument liabilities (Note 20) - 101

Total 89,201 88,342

 10. Income Taxes

Income tax expense is comprised of:

(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended  

March 31, 2013
Year ended  

March 31, 2012

Current:
Current taxes for the year 5,327 4,583
Adjustments to tax provisions recorded in prior periods (266) (232)

Total current tax expense 5,061 4,351

Deferred:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 252 (893)
Adjustments to tax provisions recorded in prior periods (67) 273
Impact of change in tax rates 1 (218)
Change in valuation allowance (450) -

Total deferred tax recovery (264) (838)

Income tax expense 4,797 3,513

A reconciliation of the income taxes calculated at the statutory rate to the actual income tax expense is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended  

March 31, 2013
Year ended  

March 31, 2012

Statutory income tax rate 26.09% 27.39%

Expected income tax expense based on statutory rate 3,954 1,982
Tax effect of:
Non-deductible interest and other permanent differences 1,344   1,585 
Adjustments to tax provisions recorded in prior periods (333) 41
Difference in foreign tax rates 231    (62)
Other    50    185 
Effect of change in tax rate 1   (218)
Change in valuation allowance (450) -

Income tax provision 4,797   3,513 

Deferred income taxes result principally from temporary differences in the recognition of certain revenue and expense items 
for financial and income tax reporting purposes. Significant components of the future tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Property, plant and equipment 332   328
Non-capital losses 906 1,262
Other 506 800

1,744  2,390
Valuation allowance -  (442)

Total 1,744   1,948
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (in Canadian dollars)

Deferred tax liabilities:

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Property, plant and equipment 183   151
Deferred income from partnership (4,828) (5,069)
Deferred gain on sale and leaseback 945 1,060
Other 1,974 1,632

Total (1,726)   (2,226)

The gross movement on the net deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended 

March 31, 2013
Year ended  

March 31, 2012

Beginning (278) (1,167)
Deferred tax expense recorded in profit or loss 264 838
Movement recognized in other comprehensive income 32 51

Ending 18 (278)

Accumulated United States non-capital losses of approximately $2,216,536 and other deductible temporary differences of 
$2,056,445 are available to be carried forward to apply against future years’ income for tax purposes of certain United States 
subsidiaries. The non-capital losses expire on or after March 31, 2028 and the other deductible temporary differences may be 
carried forward indefinitely. 

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to audit by taxation authorities. These audits may alter the timing or 
amount of taxable income or deductions. The amount ultimately reassessed on resolution of issues raised may differ from the 
amounts accrued.

The Company is subject to ongoing examination by tax authorities in each jurisdiction in which it has operations. The 
Company regularly assesses the status of these examinations and the potential for adverse outcomes to determine the 
adequacy of the provision for current and deferred income taxes, as well as the provision for indirect, withholding and other 
taxes and related penalties and interest. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions, which involves judgments 
about future events. It also relies on interpretations of tax law, including general anti-avoidance provisions (GAAR), and prior 
experience. New information may become available that causes the Company to change its judgment regarding the adequacy 
of its provisions related to income and other taxes. Any changes will be recorded prospectively in the period that such 
determinations are made.

 11. Long-term Debt
(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Long-term Debt 1,733 1,873  
Less: Current portion (198) (195)

Non-Current portion 1,535 1,678

In February 2012, the Company entered into a mortgage agreement for US$1,950,000 with JPMorgan Chase Bank to 
refinance the Company’s long-term debt. The long-term debt bears variable base rates plus variable margins tied to the 
Company’s existing Facility (Note 8). The monthly installment is US$16,250 and it will mature concurrently with the Facility on 
July 22, 2014. The remaining balance becomes due on the maturity date. The long-term debt is secured by the real property 
of one of the Company’s US subsidiaries.

 12. Finance Lease Obligations

Finance leases include buildings and operating equipment. Lease payments represent blended payments consisting of 
principal and interest based on interest rates ranging from 4.0% to 7.8%. 

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Total minimum lease payments payable 34,402 39,506
Portion representing interest to be expensed over
the remaining term of the leases 10,729 13,153

Principal Outstanding 23,673 26,353
Less: Current portion 2,167 1,989

Non-Current portion 21,506 24,364



The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments over the lives of the finance leases: 

(in thousands of dollars)

No later than one year 3,736
Later than one year, but not later than five years 12,765
Later than five years 17,901

Interest expense related to finance lease obligations for the year ended March 31, 2013 amounted to $1,715,599 (2012 - $1,741,212).

The deferred gain relates to proceeds in excess of the net book value of certain buildings sold in a sale and leaseback transac-
tion completed during the year ended March 31, 2006. The deferred gain is amortized over the lease terms of the buildings, 
which are being accounted for as finance leases. Amortization is included in other income.

 13. Provisions

Continuity of Provisions
The following table summarizes the movement in this provision for the year ended March 31, 2013:

(in thousands of dollars) Lease provision Other Total

Balance, beginning 917 1,377 2,294
Used during the year (106) (111) (217)
Unwinding of discount 53 2 55
New provisions and changes to existing provisions 338 175 513

Total 1,202 1,443 2,645
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 9) - (509) (509)

Non-current provisions 1,202 934 2,136

Lease Provision
During September 2009, the Company consolidated its warehouse operations in the Greater Toronto Area by closing a 
warehouse in Brampton and migrating this operations into its warehouse in Milton. The Brampton warehouse was a leased 
property, and the land component was accounted for as an operating lease. The Company recorded a provision relating to 
this property, being the present value of the unavoidable net costs to the Company of exiting the lease. The final transaction 
to exit the lease was completed on May 31, 2012; however, there is a requirement to make ongoing payments to the lessor 
relating to this transaction which is reflected in the provision. The present value was determined using a pre-tax discount rate 
of 5.14%. 

 14. Subordinated Notes

Under the terms of a notes indenture dated September 1, 2005 (the “Indenture”) the Company’s Notes are unsecured, bear 
interest at 14% per annum and mature on September 1, 2020. Interest on the Notes is payable on the 15th day following the 
end of each month as an annual interest sum divided by twelve. The aggregate principal amount of the Notes that may be 
issued under the Indenture is unlimited. The terms, conditions, and covenants of the Indenture have been met during the year 
ended March 31, 2013.

A company that is a significant shareholder holds 35.71% (2012 – 35.71%) of the outstanding Notes at March 31, 2013. An 
executive of this company is also a member of Taiga’s Board of Directors. A Trust whose beneficiaries include members of 
the family of a Taiga director holds 17.20% (2012 - $17.20%) of the outstanding Notes of Taiga at March 31, 2013.

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the amount of interest incurred for these related parties was $4,760,728 (2012 - 
$4,789,069) and $3,101,568 (2012 - $3,101,568), respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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 15. Shareholders’ Deficiency

a) Authorized Share Capital
Unlimited common shares without par value, unlimited class A common shares without par value, and unlimited class A and 
class B preferred shares without par value.

b) Common Shares Issued
(in thousands of dollars, except number of shares) Number of Shares Amount

Balance, March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 32,414,278 13,229

c) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists of exchange differences arising on translation of subsidiaries that 
have a functional currency other than the Canadian dollar.

d) Stock Options and Warrants
Taiga does not have stock options or warrants outstanding and has not granted or cancelled options or warrants during the 
current or prior period.

e) Dividends
In accordance with Taiga’s dividend policy set on October 15, 2008, the Company generally intends to pay dividends each 
year on its common shares equal to 25% of the prior fiscal year’s net earnings. These dividends will be in two instalments of 
12.5% on each July 15 (or first business day thereafter) and each January 15 (or first business day thereafter) and are to be 
paid to the shareholders of record on June 30 and December 31 (or first business day thereafter). The payment of any divi-
dends by the Company is subject to the discretion of its board of directors and subject to its determination of the Company’s 
capital and operational requirements, adequacy of reserves and compliance with contractual and legal requirements. 

The Board of Directors have decided not to declare and pay the first instalment of dividend in respect of the 2013 fiscal year’s 
net earnings. The decision to pay the second instalment dividend in respect of the 2013 fiscal year’s net earnings will be 
addressed by the Board of Directors prior to the next scheduled dividend date on January 15, 2014.

 16. Expenses by Nature

(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended 

March 31, 2013
Year ended  

March 31, 2012

Product and treating costs 989,225 839,454
Freight costs 31,740 28,974
Inventory write down 1,709 432
Warehouse costs 12,379 13,590

Salaries and benefits 45,245 43,352

Employee reimbursements and general office expenses 7,964 7,786
Other miscellaneous costs 1,976 3,321
Amortization 4,045 3,949

Total 1,094,283 940,858

 17. Finance Expense

The finance expense is comprised of:

(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended 

March 31, 2013
Year ended  

March 31, 2012

Interest on revolving credit facility and other short term liabilities 4,937  4,605
Interest on finance leases and long-term debt 1,836 1,852
Amortization of financing costs 529 527

Total 7,302  6,984



 18. Commitments and Contingencies

a) Contractual Commitments
The Company has obligations under various operating leases for occupied premises and equipment. The following table 
shows the separation of minimum lease payments by period resulting from a sale and leaseback transactions completed in 
2006 and from other operating leases consisting of vehicle, warehouse equipment and the Company’s head office.

(in thousands of dollars)
Sale and Leaseback 

Operating Leases
Other Operating 

Leases
Total Operating 

Leases

No later than one year 1,830 529 2,359
Later than one year, but not later than five years 7,322 1,602 8,924
Later than five years 13,851 759 14,610

The sale and leaseback operating leases expire in February 2021 or February 2026 depending on the property. Rental rates are 
subject to adjustments every five years based on consumer price index. For each property, Taiga has three options to renew 
for five years each.

Total operating lease payments recognized as an expense during the year ended March 31, 2013 were $2,506,640 (2012 - $2,677,214).

On May 14, 2013, the Company purchased properties in Regina, Saskatoon and Winnipeg for the total price of $3,035,853. 
These properties were under the sale and leaseback operating leases. 

b) Law Suit against Former Tax Advisor and Auditor
In connection with the Canada Revenue Agency challenge of the Company’s financing structure, on June 21, 2007 the 
Company filed a claim in the Supreme Court of British Columbia against its former auditor and tax consultant, Deloitte & 
Touche LLP (“Deloitte”), for damages for breach of contract, professional negligence, and breach of fiduciary duty arising 
out of the sale and implementation of a financing plan. On August 15, 2008, Deloitte filed a counter claim in the amount of 
$776,094 for unpaid contingency fees resulting from the sale of the above described financing plan. On May 11, 2011, Taiga 
filed a second claim against Deloitte for breach of contract by withholding consent for Taiga to use audited financial state-
ments, withholding consent to gain advantage in an unrelated fee dispute, and failing to act within the code of professional 
conduct. Taiga believes that Deloitte’s claim is without merit but the outcome of the case is not determinable at this time.

c) Other Outstanding Legal Matters
The Company is involved in various non-material legal actions and claims arising in the course of its business. The financial 
impact individually or in aggregate resulting from these actions and claims is not expected to be significant. The individual and 
aggregate outcomes cannot be determined at this time.

d) Executive Transition Agreements
During December 2008, the Company entered into transition agreements with three of its executives. These agreements 
include consulting contracts with terms of three years each with commencement dates ranging from April 2009 to April 2012. 
During September 2011, the Company revised the commencement date for one of the consulting contracts from April 2012 
to an unspecified date. The annual compensation for each contract, including both the fixed and variable portions, will range 
from a minimum of $111,000 to a maximum of $731,000. The Company is recording provisions associated with the contracts 
over the service terms. The accrued provision recorded as at March 31, 2013 was $934,515 (March 31, 2012 - $1,233,616). 
The fair value was determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows arising after transition using a pre-tax 
discount rate of 4%. 

 19. Capital Disclosures

The Company’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard Taiga’s ability to operate and grow its business, to provide a 
sufficient return to its shareholders, and to meet internal capital expenditure requirements and credit facility covenants. The 
revolving credit facilities and share capital are considered as the Company’s capital.

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust 
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets or consider other strategies to reduce debt.

The Company manages its capital by monitoring the balance between working capital and the revolving credit facility’s bor-
rowing base, which is a combination of accounts receivable and inventories less certain provisions. The Company is required 
to maintain a certain interest coverage ratio, based on a percentage of the borrowing base, restricted by a maximum loan 
limit. At March 31, 2013, the Company was in compliance with this requirement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (in Canadian dollars)

 20. Financial Instruments

a) Accounting for financial instruments
The following table summarizes the carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments:

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Held for trading 11  (101)
Loans and receivables 137,009  126,878
Other financial liabilities (393,664) (354,865)

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair values due to the short term to 
maturity of these instruments. The carrying amounts of the revolving credit facility and long-term debt approximate their fair 
values as these liabilities bear interest at variable market rates. 

The carrying amount and fair values of finance lease obligations are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Carrying amount 23,673  26,353
Fair value 23,276 25,911

The fair value of the finance lease obligations was determined using current borrowing rates for similar debt instruments.

The carrying amount and fair values of the subordinated notes are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Carrying amount 128,834 128,834
Fair value 136,564 126,592

The fair value of the subordinated notes was determined based on closing price of the notes which are traded on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange.

The carrying amount of derivative financial instrument assets and liabilities are equal to their fair values as these instruments 
are re-measured to their fair values at each reporting date as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Interest swaps -  (87)
Lumber futures 11 (14)

Total 11 (101)

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value hierarchy according to the 
relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – based on inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or 
indirectly (derived from prices); or

Level 3 – applies to assets and liabilities for inputs that are not based on observable market data, which are unobservable 
inputs.

Derivative financial instrument assets and liabilities are classified as level 2.

b) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments
The Company’s activities result in exposure to a variety of financial risks, including risks related to credit, market, interest, 
currency, liquidity, and commodity prices.

i) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Company. Taiga is exposed to credit risk on accounts receivable from customers. Taiga extends to its customers credit, which 
is generally unsecured. Taiga has credit management procedures in place to mitigate the risk of losses due to the insolvency 
or bankruptcy of customers. Taiga regularly reviews customer credit limits, monitors the financial status of customers and 
assesses the collectability of accounts receivable. However, risk exists that some customers may not be able to meet their 
obligations and the loss of a large receivable could have a significant negative impact on Taiga’s profitability. 

The Company is also exposed to credit risk from the potential default by any of its counterparties on the interest swap ((ii) 
below) and lumber futures contracts ((iv) below). The Company mitigates this credit risk by dealing with counterparties that 



are established major financial institutions. Taiga evaluates potential counterparties in advance of entering into such agree-
ments and deals only with parties it anticipates will satisfy their obligations under the contracts.

ii) Market risk
Market risk refers to the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates. 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. Taiga utilizes significant leverage to finance day-to-day operations. The interest cost of 
Taiga’s revolving credit facility is predominately based on the prime rate. For the year ended March 31, 2013, if interest rates 
had been 100 basis points higher, based on the Company’s average borrowing level related to its Facility, interest expense 
would have increased by approximately $1.1 million.

Taiga monitors current interest rates and selectively utilizes interest rate swap agreements. Taiga had no interest rate swap 
agreements outstanding as at March 31, 2013. 

Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Taiga does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. Financial instruments denominated in US dollars subject to foreign 
exchange risk are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012

Accounts Receivable 5,716   2,875
Accounts Payable (8,282) (6,801)
Excess Cash (Revolving Credit Facility) (5,542) 16

Total (8,108) (3,910)

As at March 31, 2013, with other variables unchanged, a one percentage point decline in the year end value of the Canadian 
dollar would have increased the foreign exchange loss by $81,000 (2012 - $39,000).

iii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises through the excess of financial obligations over financial assets due at any point in time. The Company’s 
revolving credit facility and long-term debt mature on July 22, 2014. Taiga’s ability to make scheduled payments or refinance 
its obligations depends on Taiga’s successful financial and operating performance, cash flows and capital resources, which in 
turn depend upon prevailing economic conditions and certain financial, business and other factors. 

Taiga’s ability to maintain compliance with certain of its debt covenants under the Facility depends on meeting the required 
interest coverage ratio, which is subject to the Company’s future financial and operating performance. The Company’s ability 
to repay or refinance its indebtedness will also depend on its future financial and operating performance. The Company’s 
performance, in turn, will be subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions, as well as financial, business, 
legislative, regulatory, industry and other factors, many of which are beyond Taiga’s control. The Company’s ability to meet its 
future debt service and other obligations may depend in significant part on the extent to which the Company can implement 
successfully its business growth and cost reduction strategies. The Company cannot provide any assurance that it will be able 
to implement its strategy fully or that the anticipated results of its strategy will be realized. 

iv) Commodity price risk
Taiga does not generally hedge its commodity price risk through the purchase of lumber futures contracts. Substantially 
all purchases are made based on current orders and anticipated sales, and most sales are made from inventory or against 
product on order. Inventory levels are monitored in an attempt to achieve balance between maximum inventory turnover 
and anticipated customer demand. Although Taiga strives to reduce the risk associated with price changes by maximizing 
inventory turnover, Taiga maintains significant quantities of inventory, which is affected by fluctuating prices. 

Taiga selectively utilizes Chicago Mercantile Exchange Random Length lumber futures contracts. Each contract calls for mill 
delivery of 110,000 board feet (plus or minus 5000 board feet) of random length 8-foot to 20-foot nominal 2-inch x 4-inch 
pieces. The contracts can be settled in cash or by delivery of a commodity. These positions are immaterial relative to the 
Company’s consolidated inventories. Details of the contracts outstanding at March 31, 2013 are as follows, all of which 
mature in less than one year:

Number of contracts Quantity (MFBM)
Average exercise price 

US$ / MFBM

Lumber forward purchase contracts 7 770 386.22
Lumber forward sales contracts 11 1,210 391.93
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 (in Canadian dollars)

 21. Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended  

March 31, 2013
Year ended  

March 31, 2012

Increase in Accounts receivable (9,213)  (21,904)

(Increase) Decrease in Inventories (33,483) 1,122
Increase in Prepaid expenses (131) (139)
Effect of foreign exchange on working capital 567 129
Decrease in Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (96) (8,475)

Total (42,356) (29,267)

 22. Seasonality

The Company operates in a seasonal industry that generally experiences higher sales in the first and second quarters and 
reduced sales in the late fall and winter during its third and fourth quarters of each fiscal year.

 23. Segmented Information 

Taiga operates within one business segment and has two reportable geographic areas as follows:

2013
(in thousands of dollars) Canada United States Total

Revenue 1,050,414 82,329 1,132,743
Property, plant and equipment 41,639 7,025 48,664

2012
(in thousands of dollars) Canada United States Total

Revenue 907,984 63,641 971,625

Property, plant and equipment 37,155 7,084 44,239

During the year, Taiga’s Canadian operations had export sales of $154.1 million (2012 - $122.7 million). These export sales 
were primarily to the United States and Asia, and are included as part of the Canadian segment in the table above.

For the year ended March 31, 2013, sales to a major customer represented 10.7% of sales (2012 - 12.4%)

 24. Management Compensation

Compensation of key management is recorded on the accrual basis of accounting consistent with the amounts recognized in 
the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income. Compensation expenses for key management, which 
includes the Company’s Board of Directors and Officers, were as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended  

March 31, 2013
Year ended  

March 31, 2012

Salaries and other benefits  1,953  2,378
Transition agreement - 802

Total  1,953  3,180



ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

11am, August 8, 2013 
Hilton Vancouver Metrotown

Executive Offices

Suite 800 - 4710 Kingsway 
Burnaby, BC V5H 4M2

T 604 438 1471

Postal Address

PO Box 80329 
Burnaby, BC V5H 3X6

www.taigabuilding.com

Board of Directors

Dr. Kooi Ong Tong 
Chairman

Tan Thiam Chai 
Director

Peter Buecking 
Director

Daniel McDonald 
Director

Doug Morris 
Director

Brian Flagel 
Director

Ian Tong 
Director

Cam White 
Director

Officers

Cam White 
President and CEO

Trent Balog 
EVP/COO

Grant Sali 
EVP Supply Management

Mark Schneidereit-Hsu 
VP Finance & Administration, 
CFO and Corporate Secretary

Transfer Agent

Computershare 
Trust Company of Canada 
Vancouver, BC

Auditors

Dale Matheson Carr-Hilton  
Labonte LLP 
Vancouver, BC

Stock Exchange

TSX

Trading Symbols

TBL 
TBL.NT

Solicitors

Sangra Moller LLP 
Vancouver, BC

Downey Brand LLP 
Sacramento, CA

Taiga Building Products Ltd., Annual Report Ending March 31, 2013 41

http://www.taigabuilding.com


Looking forward to 
the next 40 years

TAIGA BUILDING PRODUCTS LTD.
Annual Report Ending March 31, 2013


	Table of Contents
	Financial Highlights 
	Letter to Shareholders
	Historical Timeline 
	Mission Statement 
	Distribution Network 
	Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
	Independent Auditor’s Report 
	Consolidated Balance Sheets
	Consolidated Statements of  Earnings and Comprehensive Income 
	Consolidated Statements of  Changes in Shareholders’ Deficiency 
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
	1. Nature of Operations
	2. Basis of Preparation
	3. Signifiant Accounting Policies
	4. Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements
	5. Accounts Receivable
	6. Inventories
	7. Property, Plant and Equipment
	8. Revolving Credit Facility
	9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
	10. Income Taxes
	11. Long-term Debt
	12. Finance Lease Obligations
	13. Provisions
	14. Subordinated Notes
	15. Shareholders’ De
	16. Expenses by Nature
	17. Finance Expense
	18. Commitments and Contingencies
	19. Capital Disclosures
	20. Financial Instruments
	21. Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital
	22. Seasonality
	23. Segmented Information 
	24. Management Compensation
	Corporate Information 



